IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN E. MATHEWS, ET UX.,

Petitioners,

vs.

GLENN L. POHLMAN, ETC., ET AL., Respondents.

CASE NO. 64,589 FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. AR-398

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 29 1983

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

R. J. BECKHAM, ESQUIRE BECKHAM & McALILEY, P. A. 3131 Independent Square One Independent Drive Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Telephone: 904/354-9022 Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners sued Respondents for damages allegedly resulting from their joint and several negligence in rendering medical care to John E. Mathews. After a lengthy trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondents. Thereafter Respondents sought an award of attorneys fees under §768.56, Florida Statutes. Without reaching the issue of whether §768.56 could be applied to Petitioners in a Constitutional manner, the trial court held the statute unconstitutional, facially, as contravening the guarantees of equal protection of the laws, due process of law and access to the courts as granted by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

Upon appeal by Respondents, the First District Court of Appeal reversed,* following Florida Medical Center, Inc. v. Von Stetina, 436 So.2d 1022 (Fla 4th DCA 1983), and expressly construing Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution as requiring only that a right for redress of injury not be abolished (unless a reasonable alternative is provided or overpowering public necessity is demonstrated). Upon certification by the District Court, this court accepted discretionary jurisdiction.

Essentially, Petitioners here address two opinions of the lower courts; because of its adoption of the <u>Von</u> <u>Stetina***</u>

^{*}The opinion of the District Court is found in the Appendix, pp. 1-4.

^{**}That case is pending in this Court as Case No. 64,237.

holdings of the Fourth District Court of Appeals as to standard of review, equal protection and due process, the opinion under review requires analysis of <u>Von Stetina</u>, as well as an examination of the First District Court's explication of the extent access to the courts is guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.

The opinion below expressly utilizes the "rational basis" standard of review for purposes of equal protection and due process (App. 2-3), but is silent as to the test employed for review of access to the courts.

UNLESS THIS COURT INVALIDATES §768.56 BECAUSE OF EQUAL PROTECTION OR DUE PROCESS VIOLATIONS IN THE <u>VON STETINA</u> MATTER, THE RULING IN THAT CASE CANNOT BE DISPOSITIVE OF THIS CAUSE, BECAUSE THE ISSUE OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS (AND THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SAME) IS IN NO WAY ADDRESSED BY THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION IN VON STETINA.

INTRODUCTION

Legislative Background

Florida Statute 768.56 (1981) provides that a prevailing party in a medical malpractice action shall be awarded attorneys fees for defending or championing an action. The statute was enacted after this Court in Aldana v. Holub, 381 So.2d 231, 238 (Fla. 1980), found the Medical Mediation Act (formerly § 768.44) "unconstitutional in its entirety as violative of the due process clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions."

Section 768.56 was enacted as a substitute for the Medical Mediation Act, the purpose of which was to deter meritless medical malpractice claims. See Bill Analysis.* This Court in Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976), examined

^{*}As it began doing in 1975, the Legislature in 1980 indicated that there is a medical malpractice "crisis." The preamble is hardly a model of consistency. After stating in the third WHEREAS clause that the mediation panels were "efficient and effective," the succeeding clause concedes that such panels had not prevented "a significant increase in both the frequency and severity of claims," all of which pointed to "a renewed crisis... in the near future"! Undaunted by previous judicial caveat that the mediation panels with their specific time schedules were the "outer limits" of permissible legislation, the 1980 Legislature chose unlimited ("open-ended") attorneys fees as an "alternative" by which to "similarly screen out claims lacking in merit." Finally, after emphasizing (in the eighth and ninth WHEREAS clauses) the insignificance of comparative negligence in medical malpractice litigation and the significance of that factor in its determination to enact the law (indeed, the presence of a comparative negligence factor is expressly found to be a circumstance that causes an award of attorneys fees to lose "its effectiveness and fairness") the Legislature enacted a law, the last sentence of which mandates the application of comparative negligence doctrine to the award of attorneys fees!

the constitutionality of the Medical Mediation Act. The Court upheld the statutory framework requiring the claimant to participate in mediation before pursuing the action in a court of law, and analogized the Act as something similar to a pretrial settlement conference. Id. at 807. While the Act did not totally abrogate a claimant's right to seek redress in the courts, because the findings of the mediation panel were nonbinding, Justice Roberts warned that "the prelitigation burden cast upon the [malpractice] claimant reaches the outer limits of constitutionality." Id. at 806. [If the burden placed on a claimant by being required to participate in non-binding pretrial hearings reached the outer limits of constitutionality, Petitioners' position is that the mandatory award of unlimited attorneys fees against a losing party, without considerations of merits, is facially unconstitutional.]

The whole idea of a "crisis" has been widely criticized as unfounded, as was the effectiveness of medical mediation panels in screening out meritless claims. See Cunningham & Lane,

Malpractice--The Illusionary Crisis, 54 Fla. Bar J. 114 (1980);

Ehrhardt, C., One Thousand Seven Hundred Days: A History of

Medical Malpractice Mediation Panels in Florida, 8 Fla. St. U. L.

Rev. 165 (1980); and Spence, J. B. & Roth, J., Closing the

Courthouse Door: Florida's Spurious Claims Statute, 11 Stetson

L. Rev. 283 (1982). As the three dissenters put it (two years ago!) in Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp., 403 So.2d 365, 371 (Fla. 1981):

One cannot help but question the assertion that a "crisis," which by its terms connotes a critical turning point of an ordeal, has been continuing for six years.

As <u>Von Stetina</u> demonstrates, if a "crisis" did or does indeed exist, the arbitrary, discriminatory, and oppressive reality of §768.56 <u>in fact</u> exacerbates the "crisis."

That the Legislature <u>intended</u> to disparately "chill" access of <u>plaintiffs</u> to the courts is self-evident from the language of §768.56:

Before initiating such a civil action on behalf of a client, it shall be the duty of the attorney to inform his client, in writing, of the provisions of this section.

No corresponding coercion is thrust upon defendants or defense counsel before refusing to settle a case. If the contingent fee system provides a "key to the courthouse" [Von Stetina, 436 So.2d at 1031, following In the Matter of The Florida Bar, 349 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1977)], this legislation substantially narrows that doorway! It has been recognized -- and criticized -- accordingly.*

^{*}See Editorial, The Miami News, Nov. 30, 1983 (App. 5).

The Standard of Review - In General

When statutes are attacked on constitutional grounds, the preliminary matter for determination is which standard of analysis applies. See, generally, Morgan, M. I., Fundamental State Rights: A New Basis For Strict Scrutiny in Federal Equal Protection Review, 17 Ga. L. Rev. 77 (1982). In Florida any discussion of "standards" seemingly must begin (and end) with In restate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980). In Greenberg, Justice Alderman explicated at length upon the distinctions between the "rational basis" and the "strict scrutiny" standards -- and the situations calling for their application. In what is surely the leading case in Florida jurisprudence squarely analyzing these issues, Greenberg concluded:

The rational basis or minimum scrutiny test generally employed in equal protection analysis requires only that a statute bear some reasonable relationship to a legitimate state purpose. That the statute may result incidentally in some inequality or that it is not drawn with mathematical precision will not result in its invalidity. Rather, the statutory classification to be held unconstitutionally violative of the equal protection clause under this test must cause different treatments so disparate as to be wholly arbitrary. Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 25 <u>L.Ed.2d</u> 491 (1970); <u>Walters</u> v. <u>City of</u> <u>St. Louis</u>, 347 U.S. 231, 74 S.Ct. 505, 98 L.Ed. 660 (1954).

The strict scrutiny analysis requires careful examination of the governamental interest claimed to justify the classification in order to determine whether that interest is substantial and compelling and requires inquiry as to whether the means adopted to achieve the legislative

goal are necessarily and precisely drawn. Examining Board v. Flores De Otero, 426 U.S. 572, 96 S.Ct. 2264, 49 L.Ed.2d 65 (1976). This test which is almost always fatal in its application, imposes a heavy burden of justification upon the state and applies only when the statute operates to the disadvantage of some suspect class such as race, nationality, or alienage or impinges upon a fundamental right explicitly or implicitly protected by the constitution.

390 S.2d at 42, 43.

As developed, <u>infra</u>, Petitioners contend that "strict scrutiny" is applicable here to a statute that "impinges upon a fundamental right explicitly . . . protected by the constitution," but we also contend that the statute must fall under the lesser "rational basis" test as well.*

Even though the court below <u>acknowledged</u> our "strict scrutiny" contention -- and notwithstanding that <u>Von Stetina</u> did not address the issue of access to the courts -- the opinion under review (App. 1-4) simply cites <u>Von Stetina</u> and <u>never enunciates which standard of review it applies</u> to the fundamental right of access to the courts as explicitly guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.

^{*}An approach that avoids the necessity for determining which standard applies, is to subject the legislation to the "rational basis" test <u>first</u>; if the statute cannot withstand that standard, it becomes moot whether the "strict scrutiny" test should in fact apply. <u>Osterndorf</u> v. <u>Turner</u>, 426 So.2d 539, 544 (Fla. 1983).

ARGUMENT

Ι

FLORIDA STATUTE 768.56 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN THAT IT VIOLATES THE ACCESS TO COURT PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Right

Article I, §21 of the Florida Constition provides:

The Courts shall be open to every person, for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

The Wrong

A medical malpractice litigant is faced with an unreasonable (and from the plaintiff's point of view, uninsurable) barrier to having a day in court by the statute's message: winner, or heavy, heavy hangs over your head." The professed goal of §768.56 is to weed out meritless claims. Meritless claims under this law, however, are simply "losers." The losing litigant, no matter how meritorious the claim or defense, must pay the adversary's attorneys fees (unless the loser is insolvent or proverty-stricken). A plaintiff subject to this potential monetary burden may be forced to settle at much reduced amount than that which would properly compensate him for his injuries. [A defendant may be economically blackjacked into paying off a claim that really should be defended.] Most significantly, however, a plaintiff may be "stonewalled" by a defendant and receive nothing (not even a settlement offer) because defendant knows plaintiff cannot afford to risk filing suit and incurring liability for attorneys fees; and many

plaintiffs will <u>never</u> <u>assert</u> their remedy for a wrong done them after hearing from their lawyers the threat mandated by the law.

The axiom of a "remedy for every wrong" disintegrates under the onus that §768.56 places upon medical malpractice litigants. Preventing meritless claims in civil litigation may be a valid goal, but placing a price tag on those who must "gamble" in the courts to seek redress of meritorious claims is an impermissible abridgement of the constitutional guarantee of access to the courts.

Article I, §21 guarantees every person the right to free access to the courts and this includes freedom from unreasonable burdens and restrictions; any restriction must be liberally construed in favor of the constitutional right. In G.B.B. Investments, Inc., v. Hinterkopf, 343 So.2d 899, 901 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), Judge Hubbart noted that only "limited restrictions" on this right have been upheld in Florida, citing the examples set forth in Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So. 2d 802, 805 (Fla. 1976), and struck down a trial court's order requiring payment of over \$400,000.00 (a sum only slightly in excess of the fees sought against Petitioners) as a prerequisite to the maintenance of a counterclaim.* The "open-ended" subjection of litigants to payment of equally stupendous sums (as attorneys fees) as the price to pay for submitting a case to the courts is -- most assuredly -- not a "limited restriction" and is

^{*}Also instructive on this point is the reversal of an order precluding access until a litigant paid the fee of his original counsel in the matter. <u>Tirone</u> v. <u>Tirone</u>, 327 So.2d 801 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

equally tainted constitutionally.

Unquestionably, §768.56 has a "chilling effect" upon the guaranteed right of access to the courts. Such "chilling effect" will void criminal statutes, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 16, 19 (Fla. 1978), and non-criminal statues, <u>Larson v. Lesser</u>, 106 So.2d 188, 191 (Fla. 1958) [based upon "the practical effect of a statute]. Also see <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231, 238 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Shevin v. International Inventors</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 353 So.2d 89, 93 (Fla. 1977).

Petitioners contend that the lower court's opinion is totally off the mark when it states (App. 3) that "the test for determining whether there has been a violation of Article I, Section 21, Florida Constitution, was set forth in Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)." Petitioners believe that Kluger v. White solely addressed the access concept in terms of what was before the Court -- the total abolition of a cause of action -- and that the Court was not there holding that access was denied only when a cause of action was abolished. Petitioners believe the court below was wrong in not recognizing the established policy of protecting access to the courts from unreasonable "chills."

This Court's sensitivity in protecting the right of access in that respect was recently reaffirmed. Responding to a certified question, this Court held that the policy of "avoiding a chilling effect" upon access to the courts was alive and well! Stokes v. Bell (S.Ct. No. 63,132; Nov. 17, 1983)[8 FLW 450]. In sustaining the exemption from service

of process of one away from his county of residence while attending court on unrelated matters, this Court quoted with approval from Lamb v. Schmitt, 225 U.S. 222, 225 (1932) and authorities cited therein, noting that a contrary policy could result in a situation where a party "might be deterred from the rightfully fearless assertion of a claim or the rightfully fearless assertion of a defence [sic]." Id.

The Standard of Review - Strict Scrutiny

Because access to the courts without "denial" is <u>expressly</u> granted to the people by Article I, §21, of our Constitution, it is -- by definition -- a "fundamental right" the abridgment of which calls for application of the "strict scrutiny" test. Stated conversely:

Any restrictions on such access to the courts must be <u>liberally construed</u> in <u>favor of the constitutional right</u>.

G.B.B. <u>Investments</u>, <u>Inc. v Hinterkopf</u>, 343 So. 2d 899, 901 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), citing <u>Lehmann v Cloniger</u>, 294 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

As noted in <u>Greenberg</u>, (390 So.2d at 42, 43) the impact of "strict scrutiny" is dramatic -- often "fatal." This is because, once it is shown that a fundamental right has been infringed upon, the <u>burden shifts to the proponent of the statute</u> to prove that the law in question "promotes a compelling interest in the <u>least restrictive manner</u>." [E.s.] <u>Georges v. Carrey</u>, 546 F.Supp. 469 (N.D. III. 1982) referring to <u>San Antonio School District v. Rodriguez</u>, 411 U.S. 1, 17, 93 S.Ct. 1278, 1288, 36 L.Ed.2d 16, 33 (1973).

There is little doubt that proponents of the statute's validity desire to avoid "strict scrutiny." Principal amongst their problems is the fact that a law was already on the books for the "screening out" of "nonmeritorious claims." Since 1978, §57.105 Fla. Stat. has provided for an award of reasonable attorneys fees to "the prevailing party in any civil action" where the losing party presented no justiciable issue of law or fact. That law properly preserves access to the

courts to those entitled to it (those with justiciable issues to be adjudicated) while justifiably crimping upon the access of those not entitled to it (those with no justiciable issue to present the court). That law is designed to accomplish the stated purpose of §768.56* but it indubitably does the job in a <u>less restrictive manner</u> than does §768.56, under a "strict scrutiny" analysis.

Of course many other "less restrictive" avenues were open to the Legislature in pursuit of its goal.** Schemes similar to arbitration and workers compensation, for example, would provide a forum for resolution of medical malpractice cases without the specter of huge economic burdens in the form of an adversary's attorney's fee. Further guarantees that litigated cases are "meritorious" could be had by increasing the "proof" requirements of §768.45(2) so as to mandate the testimony of two, three or more board certified specialists within the field of medicine involved in the litigation. (Granted, this would increase the costs of litigation, but in no way would a litigant be exposed to an "open-ended" expense over which the litigant has no control.) If attorneys fees are to be involved, the imposition of some attorneys fees against a losing

^{*&}quot;The purpose of [§57.105] is to discourge baseless claims, stonewall defenses, and sham appeals in civil litigation by placing a price tag through attorney fee awards on losing parties who engage in same, as such frivolous litigation constitutes a reckless waste of sparse judicial resources and prevailing litigants' time and money." Sachs v. Hoglund, 397 So.2d 447, 448 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

^{**}We do not suggest <u>any</u> of these alternatives as being "proper"; we simply point out they are available (and less restrictive than §768.56).

party, at the discretion of the trial court (if the case were brought or defended in bad faith) could be utilized.

See, for example, the attorneys fees provisions of 42 U.S.C. \$2000e-5(k) (1981) and Alaska Stat. \$09.60.010(19) [cf.

Alaska Rule of Civil Procedure 82 and Malvo v. J. C. Penney

Co., Inc., 512 P.2d 575 (Alaska 1973)].* Awarding attorneys fees at the discretion of the trial judge allows considerations of the merits of a claim or defense and encourages settlements.

Further discussion by counsel will cease on the issue of less restrictive alternatives, however, because the matter is fully explored in the "Report of The Insurance Commission To The Florida Legislature on Medical Malpractice Insurance In The State of Florida" (Febraury 1983). The goals addressed by that report (Appendix 6 - 10) are essentially those addressed in the preamble to the law that became §768.56.

^{*}Under Alaska's Rule 82 a schedule is set up for the trial court to follow in awarding attorneys fees to the prevailing plaintiff. A trial court in its discretion may award more or less than the amounts listed in the schedule. A prevailing defendant is entitled to reasonable attorneys fees, at the disretion of the trial judge. As construed by the Alaska Supreme Court in Malvo v. J. C. Penney Co., Inc., 512 P.2d at 588:

The purpose of Civil Rule 82 is to partially compensate a prevailing party for the costs and fees incurred where such compensation is justified and not to penalize a party for litigating a good faith claim.

[E.s.]

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