Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON ATTORNEY'S FEES

> John F. Corrigan Lori E. Terens ULMER, MURCHISON, ASHBY, TAYLOR & CORRIGAN 1600 Atlantic Bank Building P. O. Box 479 Jacksonville, Florida 32201 904 354-5652 Attorneys for Respondents, Joseph J. Lowenthal, M.D., Lowenthal & Puestow, P.A., and Florida Physicians' Insurance Reciprocal

PATTILLO & McKEEVER, P.A. Post Office Box 1450 Ocala, Florida 32678 904 732-2255 Attorneys for Respondents, Glenn L. Pohlman, M.D., Vinod D. Deshmukh, M.D.; Jacksonville Neurological Clinic, P.A., and Florida Physicians' Insurance Reciprocal

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

This court has set the stage for analyzing constitutional questions relating to the medical malpractice law, Chapter 768, Florida Statutes. In <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976) and <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980), this court considered constitutional attacks on the predecessor provisions to §768.56. The preamble to §768.56 sets forth its factual background in which the legislature reaffirmed many of its findings which had led to the passage of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975, the predecessor to the present statutory scheme.

In <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court held that portions of the medical malpractice act dealing with the required mediation panels were constitutional on their face. The court considered equal protection and due process attacks, as well as access to the courts. The court emphasized that all doubts as to the validity of a statute should be resolved in favor of its constitutionality when reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights. Then, after discussing the constitutional arguments, this court determined that the legislature constitutionally attempted to resolve the malpractice crisis through the exercise of police power for the general health and welfare of the citizens.

Subsequently, in <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court declared that the provisions of the medical malpractice act dealing with the required mediation procedure were unconstitutional in their application because during the first four years since their enactment, the

practical operation and effect of the statute had rendered it unconstitutional. The court stated at page 237:

> It should be emphasized that today's decision is not premised on a reevaluation of the wisdom of the <u>Carter</u> decision. Rather, it is based on the unfortunate fact that the medical mediation statute has proven unworkable and inequitable in practical operation.

The following analysis and legal authorities will demonstrate the applicability of the constitutional principles set forth in <u>Carter</u> and will establish the constitutionality of §768.56.

I. SECTION 768.56 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE ACCESS TO THE COURTS CLAUSE

The imposition of attorney's fees on the losing party in a medical malpractice case does not violate Art. I, §21, the access to the courts provision of the Florida Constitution. Art. I, §21 provides that every person shall have access to the courts for the redress of any injury. Someone who claims injury as a result of alleged negligence of a health care provider has the unquestioned right to file a suit based on that claim.

The legitimate concern of the legislature in trying to insure that sufficient and quality health care will be available in the State of Florida and the requirement that before a claimant brings a suit he must carefully weigh the merits of his claim to the extent that he is put on notice that attorney's fees may be awarded in his favor if he is successful and against him if he is unsuccessful does not deny access to the courts.

<u>Kluger v. White</u>, <u>supra</u> is the leading case construing Art. I, §21. <u>Kluger v. White</u> held that under Art. I, §21, the legislature is without power to abolish a cause of action without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the state to redress for injuries, unless an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting public necessity can be shown.

In <u>Kluger v. White</u>, this court declared unconstitutional the provisions of the no-fault statute which eliminated a suit for property

damage under the amount of \$550. As the court pointed out, this limitation did not carry with it an alternate remedy, and thus, when someone was damaged in an automobile accident and suffered property damage of a value of less than \$550, such a victim had no recourse. Such a statute violated Art. I, §21.

The cases following <u>Kluger</u> indicate that the rule set forth in that case applies only when the legislature has abolished or totally eliminated a cause of action. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u> <u>Bauld v. J.A. Jones Construction Company</u>, 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978), <u>Alterman Transport</u> <u>Lines, Inc. v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), <u>John v.</u> <u>GDG Services, Inc.</u>, 424 So.2d 114 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>Jetton v.</u> <u>Jacksonville Electric Authority</u>, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In Jetton, the court stated at page 398:

> ...In <u>Kluger</u>, the Supreme Court held only that the complete abolition of a prior common law right to recover for automobile accident property damages violates the right to redress provision, absent either a substitute remedy "to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries" or a legislative demonstration of "overpowering public necessity". 281 So.2d at 4.

> [2] Guided by case law subsequent to <u>Kluger</u>, we narrowly construe the instances in which constitutional violations will arise. The Constitution does not require a substitute remedy unless legislative action has abolished or totally eliminated a previously recognized cause of action.

As discussed in <u>Kluger</u> and borne out in later decisions, no substitute remedy need be supplied by legislation which reduces but does not destroy a cause of action. The Court pointed out that legislative changes in the standard of care required, making recovery for negligence more difficult, impede but do not bar recovery,

and so are not constitutionally suspect. <u>Kluger</u>, 281 So.2d at 4, discussing <u>McMillan v. Nelson</u>, 149 Fla. 334, 5 So.2d 867 (Fla. 1942) (automobile guest statute). Accord, Abdin v. Fischer, 374 So.2d 1379 (Fla. 1979) (limiting liability of owners of public recreational areas). Similarly, shortening the period in which a litigant may sue, opposed to barring his cause of action as entirely, does not trigger the substitute remedy [footnote omitted] Nor does requirement. elimination of one possible ground for relief legislature to provide some require the replacement. [footnote omitted].

[3] In contrast to <u>Kluger</u> and other cases [footnote omitted] involving complete abolition of an established cause of action, appellant's cause of action has only been limited by the imposition of a dollar cap on the available recovery.

In <u>Bauld v. Jones Construction Company</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court, in upholding the constitutionality of a limitations statute against an access to the courts challenge, quoted <u>Kluger v. White</u> and stated at page 402:

> But the revisions in question did not abolish any right of access to the courts; they merely laid down conditions upon the exercise of such a right.

Section 768.56 does not abolish or totally eliminate a medical malpractice plaintiff's cause of action. It does not deny access to the courts. Petitioners' "chilling effect" argument is inapplicable because the <u>Kluger</u> rule applying Art. I, §21 deals with complete abrogation of the right to sue which is neither the intended nor practical effect of §768.56. This case is a prime example that petitioners' alleged "chilling effect" has not occurred to the extent of violating Art. I, §21 by complete elimination of the right to bring suit for medical malpractice injuries. The courts are still open to hear these claims

and the plaintiffs will only have to pay attorney's fees after the fact finder has determined that their claims have no merit. Accordingly, the <u>Kluger v. White</u> standards for constitutional analysis of showing an overpowering public necessity and no less restrictrive alternative are not applicable here where the cause of action has not been abolished.

In the absence of complete abolishment of a cause of action, other burdens on entering the courts are subject only to the requirement of reasonableness. <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, <u>supra</u>. In such cases, however, the access issue is triggered only when the restriction is an absolute precondition to filing of the lawsuit. Section 768.56 does not involve such a limitation. <u>Carter</u>, on the other hand, involved the requirement of going through a mediation panel prior to the filing of the lawsuit. The court stated at page 805:

> Although courts are generally opposed to any burden being placed on the rights of aggrieved persons to enter the courts because of the constitutional guaranty of access, there may be reasonable restrictions prescribed by law.

Petitioners quote the following portion of the <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, opinion referring to the then required mediation panels:

... the pre-litigation burden cast upon the [malpractice] claimant reaches the outer limits of constitutional tolerance... at p. 806.

Petitioners improperly assume that the attorney's fees statute, §768.56, places a greater pre-litigation burden on the litigant than

the mediation requirement. Except for the notice requirement, the attorney's fees provision does not come into play until the conclusion of the litigation after our justice system has determined the prevailing party and fees are then assessed against the losing party as determined by the factfinder. They are not assessed against all plaintiffs, only losing plaintiffs as well as defendants. The statement in <u>Carter</u> is inapplicable. <u>Carter</u> involved an absolute, mandatory prerequisite to suit which completely barred access to the courts to all litigants, at least until the mediation requirement was satisfied.

Petitioners also falsely assume that §768.56 provides for unlimited attorney's fees. The amount of attorney's fees is specifically limited in the statutory language by the reasonableness requirement.

Carter v. Sparkman, supra and Malvo v. J.C. Penney Co., Inc., 512 P.2d 575 (Alaska 1973) do not help petitioners' position. Petitioners incorrectly interpret the remarks in the <u>Carter</u> opinion about the economic burden involved with the mediation panels. These remarks, in fact, support the constitutionality of §768.56 in that they approve of a similar scheme of the taxing of expenses against the losing party rather than having the burden incurred regardless of who prevails on the merits.

Petitioners extract language from the <u>Malvo</u> case out of context. The <u>Malvo</u> case was not discussing the constitutionality of awarding attorney's fees to the prevailing party. That case involved a determination of what constitutes a reasonable fee under a statutory scheme awarding attorney's fees to the prevailing party and whether

the scheme required the court to award the full amount of the actual fees incurred. It offers no support for petitioners' case.

The other cases cited by petitioners dealing with access to the courts do not support their position. For example, G.B.B. Investments, Inc. v. Hinterkopf, 343 So.2d 899 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), Lehmann v. Cloniger, 294 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1st DGA 1974) and Tirone v. Tirone, 327 So.2d 801 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976) are distinguishable. These cases did not involve the constitutionality of statutory provisions. In Hinterkopf, a mortgage forclosure suit, the trial court dismissed a counterclaim unless the mortgagor paid into the court registry the amount due plus delinguent interest and taxes. Thus, it involved a mandatory financial pre-condition to suit. The appellate court ruling because the payment had no reasonable reversed this relationship to any valid public policy purpose. Also, the Hinterkopf court could not find any authority for imposition of such a pre-condition. Tirone similarly involved payment of money as a pre-condition to access to the court. Section 768.56 does not involve such a bar to the courthouse door.

Petitioners' quotation from <u>Hinterkopf</u> and <u>Cloniger</u>, involving a liberal rule of construction, has been taken out of context. <u>Lehmann v. Cloniger</u> involved interpretation and construction of a rule of procedure affecting the timeliness of filing a notice of appeal. Neither case involved a question of constitutional validity of a statute. The question here, however, is one of constitutional

analysis, not statutory construction. Here, a presumption of constitutional validity applies. In <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, this court at page 805 stated the fundamental underlying constitutional principle:

> It is incumbent on this Court when reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights to resolve all doubts as to the validity of a statute in favor of its constitutional validity and if possible a statute should be construed in such a manner as would be consistent with the constitution, that is in such a way as to remove it farthest from constitutional infirmity.

Petitioners have confused the constitutional issues involved here. The strict scrutiny versus rational basis issue pertains to the analytical framework for challenges to statutory provisions based on the equal protection and due process clauses. The standards for determining whether or not a statute violates Art. I, §21 have been set forth in a series of Florida cases. The tests for such challenges are somewhat analogous to the strict scrutiny versus rational basis Under Kluger v. White, supra, a statute violates Art. I, §21 tests. when it abolishes a cause of action, without providing a reasonable alternative, unless an overpowering public necessity exists and no alternative method of meeting public necessity can be shown. This Kluger v. White test is similar to the strict scrutiny test for equal protection and due process. This test, however, is only invoked upon abolishment of a cause of action.

On the other hand, if a statute does not abolish a cause of action but places a burden on entering the courts, it must only

survive the reasonableness test set forth in the portion of <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u> quoted on page 10 of this brief. This is similar to the rational basis test for equal protection and due process. This test, however, is only invoked for restrictions which are a bar to the courthouse door. For example, the mediation panel requirement addressed in <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u> was an absolute pre-condition to entering the courts. Section 768.56 is <u>not</u> such a bar to the courthouse door and, therefore, does not concern Art. I, §21 and does not trigger application of the above-described tests. Access to the courts is not involved here.

Even if §768.56 was considered a restriction on access to the courts, since it clearly does not abolish a cause of action, it would only be subject to the reasonableness requirement as set forth in <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>. Petitioners' strict scrutiny arguments are completely inapplicable to this constitutional analysis. Section 768.56 would meet this reasonableness requirement. <u>Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp.</u>, 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981) is instructive on this point. A constitutional attack based on alleged denial of access was made in the <u>Pinillos</u> case which involved the collateral source statute. The Florida Supreme Court stated at page 368:

We have also considered plaintiffs' challenges to this statute on the bases that it violates their right to access to the courts guaranteed by article I, section 21, Florida Constitution, and that it violates article II, section 3, Florida Constitution, and article V, section 2(a), in that it invades this Court's rulemaking power. ₩e find these claims to be without merit. Accordingly, we hold that section 768.50 is constitutional, and we reverse the trial judge's ruling on this point.

If it is constitutional to require a reduction in recovery because of collateral sources, then surely the statute dealing with attorney's fees, which similarly does not come into play until the end of a case, cannot be deemed to be an impermissible limitation on access to the courts. As a matter of fact, it can be reasonably argued that it adds to the right of access by allowing a successful plaintiff to recover his costs of litigation.

The reasonableness of using an attorney's fee provision to promote a policy goal in a particular class of cases has been widely recognized. For example, §627.428, Fla. Stat. (1981), provides for the imposition of attorney's fees against an insurer and in favor of the insured upon the rendition of a judgment against an insurer under an insurance policy.

Discouraging litigation is recognized as a proper purpose of attorney's fees statutes and such statutes do not, per se, violate Art. I, §21. In <u>Wollard v. Lloyd's and Companies of Lloyd's</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 400], which dealt with §627.428, this court quoted, with approval, the following language from <u>Gibson v.</u> Walter, 380 So.2d 531 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) at page 533:

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